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PREFATORY NOTES

OUR thanks are due to the following gentlemen for information

kindly supplied by them :—the Rev. Dr. R. H. Charles, Canon of
Westminster ; the Rev. Dr. W. H. Frere, of the Community of the

Resurrection, Mirfield ; the Rev. George Horner; and Norman Mclean,
Esq., of Christ’s College, Cambridge. |

In connection with the illustrations we wish to thank the Right Hon,
Lord Swaythling ; the Rector and Churchwardens of St. Augustine with
St. Faith in the City of London ; the Vicar and Churchwardens of Holy

Trinity, Kensington ; the Rev. Canon P. R. P. Braithwaite ; the Rev.
Dr. T. Burns ; and Royall Tyler, Esq.

Cearn, H. Syrri.

HE paucity of information in English about the Chalice and Paten
has suggested the advisability of treating the subject, at least in
outline, from the beginning, and not merely so far as it is represented in

the Museum. A number of illustrations have therefore been given of
forms of vessels not to be found in the Museum collections.

The group of Chalices and other Communion Plate includes original
examples dating from the thirteenth to the eighteenth century, together
with a few reproductions. The greater number of these are-exhibited
together in Room 39, but the examples forming part of the Murray
Bequest, and two or three belonging to the Sibthorp Collection, are, in
accordance with the terms of these gifts, placed with the remainder of
their respective collections. The single example of a Greek Chalice is
placed with a small group of Russo-Greek work ; the Abyssinian Chalice
is with other objects of that country. The few pewter vessels are to be
seen 1n Room 164, and the two * Sheffield Plate” examples in Room 34.

The electrotype reproductions of Chalices are for the most part to be
found in Room 35.

The Museum collection makes no claim to illustrate the history and
development of the Chalice, but is intended to place before students,

craftsmen, and others, examples of fine form, design and decoration, as
applied to this object. |

W. W. WarTts,
Keeper of the Department of Metalwork.
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CHALICES
AND OTHER COMMUNION VESSELS

INTRODUCTION. I.—-THE CHALICE.

N tracing the history of the chalice, the two main points for
consideration are the substance of which it was made and the
form of the vessel and its evolution through the centuries.

And, as in the study of almost every other branch of art, it 1s
essential to bear continually in mind any historical facts which
affected either the form of the vessel or the material of which it
was made. Two such historical facts stand forth in clear outline :
the recognition of Christianity by the Emperor Constantine in the
early years of the fourth century, and the withdrawal of the cup
from the laity—a practice already introduced before the close of the
twelfth century, and finally confirmed by the Council of Constance
in 141¢. The less important event of the Reformation in the
English Church during the sixteenth century brought about a

marked change in the form and decoration of the chalice in this
country.

THE vessel used by our Lord at the institution of the Eucharist
may reasonably be supposed to have been one of the ordinary two-
handled cups in use at the time ; its material, whether precious or
otherwise, there is no means of finally dttermining. The cathedral
of Valencia in Eastern Spain claims to possess as its greatest treasure
this identical cup. According to Sir J. C. Robinson,' who had the
opportunity of examining it some fifty years since, “the chalice
consists of a circular cup, nearly four inches in diameter, hollowed
out from a single splendid hair-brown sardonyx. A plain but taste-

' See Archeological Fournal, Vol. xxxiv, pp. 316, 317.
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ful moulding wrought in the stone, round the lip, in addition to
the evidence of the precious material itself, shows it to be of antique
Roman origin- . « « « . therefore, however improbable, it is not
actually 1mpossible that it should have been used at the Last
Supper.” In describing the mounting of this cup he states that
the base is also of sardonyx, probably of the eighth or ninth century,
and that the original jewelled gold mountings were also of this
period, but were renewed in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries.
Canon Jose Sanchio y Sivera in his work “La Catedral de Valencia,”
which contains a photograph of this vessel, states at length the
traditional history of the “sacred chalice,” which was always
considered sufficient guarantee of its authenticity, but he admits
that the evidence does not satisfy all the requirements of historic
criticism.

The Scottish monk Adamnan, Abbot of Hy (Iona) from 679
to 704, writing at the end of the seventh century,' thus describes a
chalice of which he had heard from the French bishop Arculphe,
who visited the Holy Land about the year 640, ““calix Domini, quem
a se benedictum propria manu in Coena, pridie quam pateretur,
ipse conviva apostolis tradidit convivantibus: qui argenteus calix
sextaril gallict mensuram habens, quasque ansulas in se utraque
altrinsecus continens compositas.” 'The Venerable Bede, in his
“De locis sanctis,” follows the same story. This chalice, then, was
of silver, and provided with two handles. The Spanish writer
already quoted finds no difficulty in this statement, as St. Jerome
affirms that our Lord on that memorable night made use of two
cups. Other places besides Valencia have laid claim to the possession
of this sacred object ; and “le calice ou Nostre Seigneur but a la
cenne ~ appears in an inventory of the duc de Berry as late as 1416.

Prior to the withdrawal of the cup from the laity, two kinds
of chalices were in common use in the Western Church for the
Eucharist—the chalice used for consecration, and the ministerial
chalice used for the communion of the faithful. The latter, follow-
ing the probable shape of the original vessel, was frequently

Y See De locis Terre sancte (reproduced in Migne’s Patrologia Latina, Ixxxviii).
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furnished with two handles for convenience in carrying when
administering communion. It was filled with wine into which a few
drops were poured from the consecrated chalice. Dr. Wickham
Legg,' speaking of the instructionslaid down in “Ordo Romanus I,”
says “ When . . . . the lay folk are to be communicated the arch-
deacon pours a little of the consecrated chalice into the ministerial
chalice, the contents of which were supplied by the offerings of the
faithful. It was a current opinion at that early time that the addition
of a small quantity of the consecrated species to another chalice was
enough to extend the virtue of consecration to the whole of the
contents of the second chalice ” (vinum etiam non consecratum, sed
Sanguine Domini commixtum, sanctificatur per omnem modum).
It 1s reasonable therefore to infer that the consecration chalice was
comparatively small, while the ministerial chalice would be of con-
siderable size and capacity. It might also be thought that the
ministerial chalice would invariably be provided with handles, and
the consecration chalice would have none: but the facts do not
confirm this suggestion. Existing chalices of the ministerial type
are sometimes with handles, sometimes without, apparently followin g
no invariable rule. After the tenth century few handled chalices
are found, and from the time when the denial of the Cup to the
laity was introduced at the end of the twelfth century they
disappeared in the Western Church, which no longer needed them.

T'he caretul student of early chalices cannot fail to be struck by
the fact that after abandoning the classical form the craftsman by a
happy inspiration at once arrived at the most useful and convenient
form for these vessels, a form which in its constituent parts, though
with necessary variations, has persisted until the present day : the
foot is circular, splayed out widely from the stem, so as to preclude
any possibility of the chalice being overturned, the knop between
the foot and the bowl is clearly defined, obviously for convenience
in handling ; the bowl is generally deep. These three parts—foot,
knop and bowl—remain through the centuries more or less developed;
the chalice comes down to us from the earliest times as an example

' See Ecclesiological Essays
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of a truly artistic object, the form of which is the best possible for
the purpose for which the object is intended.

Chalices in precious metals and other costly substances were not
uncommon in the early days of the Church; in fact, the tendency
from the first was towards the use of precious substances and metals
for the vessels destined for use in the highest act of Christian
worship. But it is quite clear from the evidence of early writers, as
well as from the number of prohibitions against the use of commoner
substances, that for one reason or other the use of precious material
was by no means universal. The peace of the Church under Con--
stantine early in the fourth century, and its consequent popularity,
gave a great impetus towards the use of gold and silver and precious
stones ; nevertheless chalices in common substances continued to be

made as late as, or even later than, the tenth century in spite of
many regulations forbidding their use.

According to Honorius of Autun, the Apostles and their suc-
cessors used to celebrate with wooden chalices, “apostoli et eorum
successores in quotidianis vestibus et ligneis calicibus celebrabant.”!
The well-known words attributed to St. Boniface, the English
missionary to Germany in the eighth century, at least suggest that he
was acquainted with the use of wooden chalices : when asked if it
was permissible to use wooden chalices—* conficere sacramenta in
vasis ligneis “—he replied “ Quondam sacerdotes aurei ligneis cali-
cibus utebantur, nunc e contra lignei sacerdotes aureis utuntur
calicibus.” Incidentally, his words seem to prove that he was not
disposed to favour very warmly the use of precious metals. Glass
was frequently used, and later horn, brass, and bronze. Pope
Zephirinus at the beginning of the third century is said to have
ordered that chalices should no longer be made of wood; the
reference 1s, however, uncertain. Pope Urban I a few years later
required the use of silver. The eighth and ninth centuries were
marked by the pronouncement of further prohibitions. The Council

of Calchyth in the year 787 forbade the use of horn ; others pro-

L It should however be remembered that this statement only dates from the early years of the
twelfth century.
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nounced against the use of brass and copper, and ordered that gold,
or at least silver, should be employed, but permitted the use of less
costly materials in poor churches. Leo IV in 847 issued a prohibition
against the use of wood and glass. In 897 the Council of Tribur
issued a similar prohibition. The laws of Edgar in 967 forbade the
use of wooden chalices in England.” In 1175 Richard, Archbishop
of Canterbury, wrote thus ““ Ne stanneum calicem aliquis episcopus
anmodo benedicat interdicimus : > and this constitution was adopted
as part of the canon law in England.* In Spain a Council at Com-

postella about the year 1056 ordered that crosses, reliquaries and
chalices should be made of silver.?

There appear also to have been considerations other than poverty
which account for the persistence of chalices in common substances

during the first ten centuries of the Christian era. Among the more
ascetic members of the Christian community objections were raised

even to the appearance of luxury in connection with worship.
St. Clement of Alexandria in the third century vigorously opposed

the use of gold, silver, or precious stones, and St. John Chrysostom
more than a century later condemned the donors of jewelled gold
chalices. St. Ambrose in the fourth century pronounced against the

necessity of having chalices of gold : he recalls that St. Lawrence
sold his chalices and distributed the proceeds to the poor, and he

himself did not hesitate to convert the treasures of Milan into
money for the purpose of ransoming captives.' St. Jerome refers

L« Now in the Primitive Church, the Sacrifice was offered in vessels of wood, and common
vests : for then were Chalices of wood, and Priests of gold : whereof the contrary is now.
But Severinus, Pope, decreed that it should be offered in glass : but because such vessels
were easily broken, therefore Urban, Pope, and the Council of Rheims, decreed that
gold or silver vessels should be used : or on account of poverty, tin, which rusteth not:
but not in wood nor in brass. Therefore it might not be in glass on account of the danger
of effusion : nor of wood since being porous and spungy, it absorbeth the Blood : nor of
brass nor of bronze, the rust of which is unseemly.” Durandus— Rationale Divinorum

Officiorum. (Translation by Rev. J. M. Neale and Rev. B. Webb, 1843).
See also A. Way—T%e Chalice, in Archzological Journal, Vol. iii, p. 133.

® See Alcuin Club Collections, Vol. vi. Introduction, p. xiii.

® See Florez—Espafia Sagrada, Vol, xix, p. 398.

* St. Augustine, St. Gre

gory the Great, St. Hilary of Arles, and others are said to have melted
down their sacred

vessels for the same purpose.
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approvingly to the example of St. Exupere, Bishop of Toulouse,
who sold his church vessels in order to assist the poor.

Among the few survivals of chalices in common substances
reference may be made to two blue glass vases of the fifth century
in the British Museum which resemble the form of chalice repre-
sented on Early Christian and Byzantine monuments, and were
possibly used as chalices. One, found near Amiens, has both its
handles, the other is mutilated. Of similar form was the olass vessel
formerly preserved in the treasury of St. Servais at Maestricht, and

reputed to have been used by that saint in the fourth century ;

unfortunately it has since disappeared. Glass, indeed, seems to have
been more in use than any other material except the precious metals:
records exist of many such vessels, but their fragile nature has
precluded their preservation.

The church of St. Michael, Pavia, possesses a chalice of wood said
to date from the fifth century. Pewter chalices are not infrequently
found which have been buried with priests in medizval times, and
the number which have survived from later periods proves that
pewter continued in use in poor -churches.

But there is no doubt as to the tendency in very early times
towards the use of precious metals for altar vessels. Chalices
of gold and silver are said to have been in use in the days of
Diocletian. After the conversion of the Emperor Constantine to the
Christian Faith early in the fourth century the use of gold and
silver 1s the rule. He signalised his acceptance and recognition of
Christianity—if the statements in the Liber Pontificalis are to
be relied upon—by magnificent gifts to many of the churches
in Rome in the form of chalices of great weight, many being
of gold enriched with precious stones, while others were of
silver. "l'he churches at Ostia, Albano, Capua and Naples received
similar gifts." There is little doubt that the sacking of Rome
by Alaric in the year 410 must have involved the destruction of
many of these treasures ; in the later years of that century the popes
endeavoured to make good the loss by generous gifts of chalices,

1 See Liber Pontificalis, edit. Duchesne, 1884.
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not however of the same magnificence as those of Constantine.

St. Gregory of Tours relates that the King Childebert on the
return of his expedition from Spain in the year §31 brought with
him sixty chalices of gold set with precious stones, which he
handed over to the service of the Church. In the same century
Queen Brunchilde, wife of Sigebert I, King of Austrasia, gave to
the church at Auxerre a chalice of onyx mounted in gold.’

The cathedral of Monza, built by order of the Queen Theodelinda
in 595, formerly possessed magnificent treasures presented by her.
Refefences are made to these gifts in various inventories : that of
1275 enumerates amongst other vessels a oold chalice with two

- handles set with many gems ; a silver-gilt chalice with two handles
but without gems ; a two-handled gold chalice with paten, with
many precious ornaments, gems and pearls and precious stones ; a
great chalice of gold with two handles, decorated with precious
stones and many pearls.” The form of these vessels may be gathered
from a more or less faithful representation on several bas-reliefs of a
later date still to be seen at the cathedral.

Magnificent gifts poured into the Church in the eighth century:
Popes Gregory III, Adrian I and Leo III signalised their pontifi-
cates by presenting to St. Peter’s and other churches in Rome gold
and  silver chalices of great weight, some enriched with precious
stones. The Emperor Charlemagne at his coronation made an
offering of gold chalices set with gems. Their great size and
welght must have precluded their use either at the altar or for the
communion ; more probably they were votive offerings suspended
near the altar for decoration—a not uncommon practice at the
time®—or merely placed on the altar. In his will, dated 827, Count
Everard, son-in-law of Louis le Debonnaire, mentions among the
furniture of his chapel a chalice of ivory mounted in gold.

The use of semi-precious stones for chalices is amply illustrated

! See ]. Labarte—Histoire des arts industriels au moyen dge, Vol. i., p. 424.

¢ See X. Barbier de Montault—1Inventaires de la basiligue royale de Monza, in Bulletin Monu-
mental, Vols. xlvi., xlvii.

3'The Liber Pontificalis mentions chalices offered by Leo IV, which were placed “ i circuitu
altaris,” and others suspended between columns.
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by the remarkable group of chalices in agate, rock-crystal, and
jasper, mounted in gold, and enriched in some cases with gems,
still existing in the Treasury of St. Mark’s, Venice, and datin g from
the tenth century.! They were among the rich productions of
Byzantium, whose goldsmiths had acquired a reputation through-
out the whole of Europe ; in all probability some of them still
formed part of the treasure of that city when it was captured by
the Crusaders in the year 1204. They vary considerably in shape,
and many are furnished with handles; the outline of those without
handles approximates more closely to the form which was gradually
becoming orthodex (PLaTE 2). Reference must also be made to
the further enrichment of chalices by the Byzantine goldsmiths in
the form of precious stones hung from the upper part of the bowl.
Michael ITI, Emperor of Byzantium from 842 to 867, presented to
Pope Benedict IIT a chalice decorated in this manner, “ Calicem de
auro et lapidibus circundatum, reticulo pendente de gemmis albis
pretiosis mirae pulchritudinis decoratum "; and to his successor,
Pope Nicholas I, ¢ Calicem de auro, ex lapidibus circundatum et
in circuitu pendentes hyacinthos in filo aureo.”’?

-The use of precious materials could not fail to attract and excite
the emulation of craftsmen in Western Europe ; and so we find
St. Bernward, the celebrated Bishop of Hildesheim in the early part
of the eleventh century, causing chalices for his use to be made of
gold and semi-precious stones. The Emperor Henry II presented
the church of St. Vitou, Verdun, with a chalice of onyx mounted
in gold. Nor was England behind the other nations of Europe in

- the production of fine goldsmiths” work for church use : both at

"M.E.C.D. 2017

Ely and St. Albans there were schools of able workers in the

precious metals. At Ely, the centre of a district the last to submit
to William the Conqueror, the monks in the year 1074 gave him as

a peace-oﬁering a large sum of money obtained by melting down
chalices, statues, and other pieces of goldsmiths’ work. Matthew

! See O. M. Dalton—Byzantine Art and Archaeology, p. 552

See A. Pasini—1/ tesoro di San Marco in Venezia,

2 8ee Liber Pontificalis, pp. 304, 311.
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Paris refers with admiration to a chalice of gold set with precious
stones made about the year 1170 by Baldewin, a celebrated gold-
smith, for Simon, Abbot of 5t. Albans, “ quo non videmus in regno
Angliae nobiliorem ” ; also a small gold chalice for daily use, and
two silver chalices “irreprehensibiliter compositos.”’ That the
practice of enriching chalices with gems found considerable favour
in this country is evidenced by the old inventories of St. Paul’s,
Lincoln, Canterbury, and other cathedrals, which include chalices set
with pearls and precious stones.”

Turning to the form of the chalice,” the earliest existing
example of a two-handled chalice in precious metal is that found at
Gourdon, Chélon-sur-Sadne, in the year 1845, and now preserved
among the treasures of the Cabinet des Médailles, in the Bibliotheque
Nationale, Paris. It is a tiny vessel of gold, the bowl in the form
of a thistle, the foot conical, the handles bearing a faint resemblance
to dolphins ; a band round the upper part has six leaves filled with
turquoises and red stones. With it was an oblong dish also of gold,
the border decorated with lozenges set with plaques of red glass in
imitation of rubies, the centre with a cross of similar work. These
objects date from the early part of the sixth century.® An ivory
carving, part of a diptych, in the Stadtbibliothek at Frankfort-on-
the-Main, shows an altar with a two-handled chalice of similar form
to the Gourdon example : the ivory dates from the close of the ninth
century.” The cathedral of Nancy still includes amongst its treasures
the chalice and paten of St. Gauzelin, Bishop of Toul, who died in
962 ; the chalice has two handles, the bowl is hemispherical, the
knop of the usual form, the foot of trumpet-mouth shape. Both
chalice and paten are of gold, decorated with filigree work

' See L’abbé Texier— Dictionnaire d’orfévrerie chrétienne, s.v. Baldewin.

*8ee W. H. St. John Hope, M.A., and T. M. Fallow, M.A.—English medieval Chalices
and Patens, in Archacological Journal, Vol. xliii, pp. 137, 364.

3 “ . @ ® .
An interesting representation occurs on a mosaic at S. Vitale, Ravenna, of the 6th century :

a two-handled jewelled vessel stands on an altar flanked by figures of Abel and
Melchisedek.

* Illustrated in C. de Linas— Les opigines de lorféorerie cloisonnée, end of Vol. iii.

® Illustrated in O. M. Dalton—Fitzwilliam Museum, McClean Beguest, Pl. vi.
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enclosing precious stones en cabochon. His successor in the see of
Toul possessed a two-handled chalice of somewhat similar form in
silver-gilt, the bowl engraved with figures of our Lord, the Virgin
Mary, and Apostles, beneath an arcading; the foot with the
symbols of the Evangelists. At Wilten in the Tyrol is preserved
a rich two-handled chalice of silver of the twelfth century : the
bowl 1s of flattened hemispherical form, and the foot splayed out
wide beyond the upper part. The decoration consists of medallions

“enclosed within strapwork and enriched with niello, those on the

bowl depicting scenes from the life of our Lord, those on the foot
representing Old Testament types of our Lord—the series corre-
sponding the one to the other. The introduction of the four cardinal
virtues immediately below the knop marks a departure from the
traditional decoration of the chalice." The monastery of St. Peter,
Salzburg, possesses a two-handled chalice of about the year 1200,
decorated on the foot and lower part of the bowl with figures of
apostles and prophets in high relief : a fine example of the vigorous
German work of the period.” The cathedral of Cividale del Friuli
on the Austro-Italian frontier owns a beautiful example of a two-
handled chalice with its paten, dating from about the same year.
It has a trumpet-mouth foot engraved with figures and an INSCrip-
tion ; the knop is of openwork ; the bowl, which recalls the carly
form seen in the Monza vessels, is decorated beneath with gadroons
and bears an inscription round the lip. It is furnished with two
scrollwork handles with figures and foliage in openwork (PraTe 1).

A noble example of a two-handled vessel exists in the Ardagh
chalice belonging to the Royal Irish Academy.® This magnificent

+ See Karl Weiss—Der Romanische Speisekelch des Stiftes Wilten in Tirol, in Jahrbuch der

K.K. Centra] Commission zur Erforschung und Erhaltung der Baudenkmale, Vol. iv,
1860, p. 24, Pl. 1 to v.

2 Ilustrated in H. Tietze— Die Denkmale des Benediktinerstiftes St. Peter in Salzourg,
Pl. vi, vii,
% A reproduction is exhibited in the Museum collection, No. 244-1881. See Earl of Dunraven

—On an ancient Chalice and Brooches lately found at Ardagh in the County of Limerick—
in Transactions of the Royal Irish Academy, Vol. xxiv.

Also G. Coftey—Guide to the Celtic antiguities of the Christian period in the National
Museum, Dublin, p. 37.
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chalice, the only one of its kind found in the British Isles, was
discovered in the village of Ardagh, County Limerick, in 1868 ; it
is mainly of gold, silver, and bronze, with enrichments of enamel and
amber, and 1s further decorated with bands of fine filigree work.
It has been assigned to various periods between the eighth and
eleventh centuries (PLATE 5). In his learned work ¢ La Messe,”
Rohault de Fleury reproduces an eighteenth-century drawing of
the chalice of the abbey of St. Josse-sur-Mer—a two-handled vessel
of the eleventh century in silver-gilt, the bowl and the foot engraved
with figures and inscriptions. “ A large chalice with two handles ”’
was noted among the possessions of Westminster Abbey in 1388.’

A number of chalices without handles survive to illustrate this
form of vessel and its material in early times. The remarkable
group of pewter vessels found in 1897 at Appleshaw, Hampshire,
and now in the British Museum, includes a cup, the form of which
suggests the chalice of a later period : its date cannot be later than
the fourth century.” Mention must also be made of a treasure
discovered in the valley of the Orontes not far from Antioch in Syria
in 1910, and now in the Kouchakji Collection at New York : it
compris€s two vessels considered to be chalices, three book covers,
a large cross, and many crumpled fragments of silver. The most
important piece is a cup nearly eight inches high: the bowl is of
truncate-ovoid form, the knop and foot small in proportion and of
solid silver. 'The bowl is encased in openwork decorated with vines
and grapes, amid which are seated figures said to represent our Lord
and ten apostles : the outer surface was originally gilt. Whether it is
a chalice is at the least doubtful ; it has been assigned to the end of
the second, the beginning of the third, and the first half of the fourth

century, but one authority suggests an even earlier period.®

! See ]. Wickham Legg— Oz ax Inventory of the Vestry in Westminster Abbey taken in 1388—
in Archzologia, Vol. lii, Pt. 1, pp. 195-286.

“See Archwologia, Vol. lvi, Pt. 1, p. 11.

® See L. Bréhier— Les trésors d’argenterie syrienne, In Gazette des Beaux Arts, Mars— Avril,
1920, pp. 173-196.
Also G. A. Eisen— Preliminary report on the great chalice of Antioch, in American Journal of
Archzology, 2nd Series XX, pp. 426-437.
Also Charles Diehl—L’école artistique d’Antioche et les trésors d’argenterie syrienne, in
Syria, Tome II, 2°me Fascicule, pp. 81-95.

I1

M.E.C.D. 2017



M.E.C.D. 2017

In 1911 another chalice was found in a tomb, presumed to be
that of a bishop, at Riha on the right bank of the Orontes, some
forty miles south-east of Antioch. Itisnow in the Tyler collection,
Paris. Its height is about six and a half inches, the bowl is deep and
incurved, the knop and foot bell-shaped ; the only decoration consists
of an inscription round the rim in Greek capitals taken from what is
known as the Liturgy of St. John Chrysostom, which determines

its sacred use. It is assigned to the first half of the sixth century
(PraTe 1).

‘The British Museum is fortunate in the possession of a chalice
of this type, a noble vessel of capacious dimensions, the rim inscribed
in Greek with the names of donors: it comes also from Syria.
Closely allied to the form of the latter is the chalice still
preserved at Zamon. It was found not far from Trento in the
Italian Tyrol, and is of silver, the bowl semi-ovoid, the knop a
flattened sphere, the foot splayed out in trumpet-mouth form ;
a votive inscription runs round the lip. It is considered by some
authorities to be not later than the sixth century, others claim that
it may even belong to the fifth.2 The form is common to the
handleless chalices of the sixth and two following centuries. Refer-
ence may be made here to a group of goblets somewhat approxi-
mating to this form, found in 1912 near Poltava in Southern
Russia. They date from the sixth or the beginning of the seventh
century, but whether they were used for sacred purposes we have
no means of determining.® The Lampsacus treasure at the British
Museum includes a cylindrical vessel on a small foot which may also
have been used as a chalice : it is Byzantine work of the sixth century.

Known to us only by the drawing made by André du Saussay
in 1651 is the wonderful chalice formerly belonging to the Abbey
of Chelles in the diocese of Paris, and traditionally believed to be
the work of the celebrated goldsmith-bishop St. Eloi in the seventh

1 See L. Bréhier and Charles Diehl, a5 above.
“ See G. B. de Rossi—Bulletino di archeologia cristiana, 1878, pp. 159-162, Pl. xii.

® See Alexis Bobrinskoy— Le trésor de Poltava in Mémoires de la Société des Antiquaires de
France, Vol. Ixxiii, 1913, p. 225.
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century : a goblet-shaped vessel of gold with a check pattern in red,
green, and white enamel, the lip decorated with a band of ornament
in red and set with stones en cabochon.! This precious vessel,
unhappily destroyed at the Revolution, appears to have been a
consecration chalice for use by the bishop when the whole of the
clergy present communicated at the episcopal Mass.

The Abbey of Kremsmiinster in Upper Austria preserves the
chalice made for Tassilo, Duke of Bavaria, in the latter part of the
eighth century.” The bowl is semi-ovoid without handles, the knop
large, the foot of trumpet-mouth form. It is of copper gilt and
chased, and set with medallion plaques in nielloed silver : those on
the bowl represent Christ and the symbols of the four evangelists,
those on the foot represent saints. Each medallion 1s surrounded by
a band also of nielloed silver, the intervening spaces being filled
with engraved interlacing scrolls and grotesque beasts. The material
of which it is made, and the general style of the decoration, bear so
close a resemblance to Irish work that it may be reasonably assumed
to have resulted from the influence of the Irish missionaries who, in
an earlier century, were so.zealous in preaching the Christian Faith
in Bavaria (PraTte 2). Very similar in form 1s the chalice at
Petrograd, said to have belonged formerly to St. Chrodegand,® who
died in 775—a bronze vessel enriched with silver, and bearing
inscriptions round the foot and the rim of the bowl. A further
chalice of this form is preserved at Werden,* in the neighbourhood
of Diisseldorf, its only decoration being an inscription on the foot
and lip.

The British Museum possesses a silver chalice found at Tre-
whiddle, near St. Austell, Cornwall, nearly a hundred and fifty
years ago ; it is a cup about five inches in height, without handles
and devoid of ornament, approximating in form to the example

! See C. de Linas— Orfévrerie mérovingienne. Les cuvres de St. Eloi. Illustration opposite p. 4.
Also E. Rupin— L’@uvre de Limoges, pp. 32-35.

2 Mlustrated in G. Lehnert—Geschichte des Kunstgewerbes, Vol. 1, p. 212.
See also Margaret Stokes—Early Christian Art in Ireland, pp. 67, 68.

® Illustrated in C. Rohault de Fleury— Lz Messe, Vol. iv, Pl. ccxcii.

* Illustrated in C. Rohault de Fleury— Le Messe, Vol. 1v, Pl. ccxev.
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found at Zamon, referred to above, and dating from about the year
875 : it is thus the oldest English chalice in existence (PraTE 3).!

The absence of English chalices of earlier date than the
thirteenth century may partly be explained by the fact that a large
number of sacred vessels were sacrificed in the year 1193 for the
ransom of Richard I, who, however, on his return from captivity,
hastened to make good the loss.” In June, 1338, Edward III, in order
to defray the expenses of his journeys abroad, received chalices,
patens, and other treasures of specified weight and value from the
abbeys of Thorney, Peterborough, Ramsey, Reading, Crowland
and Hyde, together with a larger loan from Canterbury Cathedral;
these he promised to restore or to pay for if not returned.® The
words of the Anglo-Saxon poet and scholar Alcuin may perhaps
have reference to the productions of his native country as well as to
the land of his adoption :

aureus atque calix gemmis fulgescit opertus,
ut caelum rutilat stellis ardentibus aptum,
sic lata argento constat fabricata patena.

At the church of St. Isidore, Leon, Spain, is a chalice, of the
end of the eleventh century, in agate, mounted in precious metal set
with pearls and other stones®: in general appearance it resembles
some in the Treasury of St. Mark’s, Venice, already referred to.
The abbey of Silos possesses the chalice made between 104¢
and 1074 to the order of Abbot Domingo, a vessel of silver
with hemispherical bowl and foot, each elaborately decorated
with an arcading and borders of filigree work, the knop similarly
enriched.” 'The chalice bearing the name of the Abbot Pelagius,
now in the Louvre, belongs to the end of the following

' See Proceedings of the Society of Antiguaries, Vol. xx, p. go.

* See Albert Way—T#ke chalice, in Archzological Journal, Vol. iii, p. 140. Also Sussex
Archzological Collections, Vol. ix, pp. 310, 311.

3 See Thomas Rymer— Fadera, Conventiones, Littere, €5c., Vol. ii, Part ii, Pp. 1040, 1041,
1045, 1046.

* Illustrated in C. Rohault de Fleury—La Messe, Vol. iv, Pl. ccexii. Also L. Williams— Arts
and Crafts of Older Spain, Vol. 1, Pl. xviil.

® Hlustrated in Dom Eugéne Roulin—L’ancien trésor de I’abbaye de Silss, Pl. v.
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century (PrLaTe 6)." Portugal can show at Braga, Coimbra,
Guimaraes and Lisbon, remarkable examples of form and decora-
tion common to the period.” That at the cathedral of Braga is of
archaic form, the bowl decorated with conventional lions ; the knop
is so slight as to be hardly perceptible, and the base is flat. It is
considered to date from the eleventh century. The Coimbra
example has a deep conical cup with figures of apostles beneath an
arcading, a large knop of filigree work, and a widely splayed
trumpet foot : an inscription gives the date corresponding to 1152,
The three chalices at the Lisbon Museum, though less rich in
decoration, closely resemble in form the Coimbra vessel, one of
them having a similar filigree knop. The form of the chalice at
Guimaraes anticipates that of the thirteenth century : the bowl
is shallow, the knop flattened and ribbed, the foot flattened
and decorated in relief with six medallions of rosettes and heraldic
lions alternately. An inscription round the foot gives the date
corresponding to 1187.

A silver chalice preserved in the Treasury of Bamberg Cathedral
1s said to have been found in the tomb of Eberhard, Bishop of
Bamberg, who died in 1042. It is of archaic form, the bowl hemi-
spherical, the knop flattened and merging into the trumpet-mouth
foot.” For sumptuous work there is little to be compared with such
chalices as those preserved at Fritzlar and Hildesheim. At the
latter town are two twelfth-century chalices. One was the gift of
Bishop Bernard (d. 1153) to the abbey of St. Godehard*: the
circular foot is decorated with medallions of scenes from the Old
Testament typical of the work of Christ, each enclosed within a
band bearing an inscription ; the knop is decorated with foliage,
and both knop and foot are further enriched with filigree work and

' See ]. G. Dorregaray—DMuseo Espaiiol de Antigiiedades, Vol. vii, p. 625. A reproduction
18 in the Museum Collection, No. Cire. 1913—1569. |

? Illustrated in Joaquim de Vasconcellos—drse religiosa em Portugal.

® Ilustrated in E. Bassermann-Jordan und Wolfgang M. Schmid—Der Baméerger Domscharz,
p. 27, where references are also given to other chalices of the eleventh century—those of
Archbishop Poppo, 1047, Archbishop Udo at Tréves, 1078, Bishop Reginbald at Speyer,
1039, and Bishop Theoduin at Liége, 1075.

* Illustrated in H. Liier and M. Creutz—Geschichte der Metallkunst, Vol. ii, p. 170.
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precious stones : the lower part of the bowl has medallions in relief
depicting scenes from the life of Christ, and the rim has a deep
band, covered except for the lip space with filigree work and
precious stones. The second chalice, which belongs to the church
of St. Maurice, 1s of the same form, and follows the same arrange-
ment of ideas in its decoration : the circular foot has medallions of
Old Testament scenes typifying the death of Christ, the intervening
spaces being filled by figures of angels ; the knop is decorated with
the symbols of the Evangelists, and round the bowl are engraved
busts of the twelve apostles. Intercourse with the Eastern capital
had resulted in the cities of the Rhine valley becoming centres of
artistic energy from the end of the tenth century: the skill and
inventiveness of the craftsman had been stimulated by Byzantine
influence, producing not mere servile imitation but a rich originality
of ideas of form and decoration peculiarly his own.

Of French chalices the most notable of the twelfth century
1s the chalice of St. Remi, preserved at Rheims Cathedral, a
vessel of extreme beauty in gold decorated with filigree work,
enamel and precious stones : the foot is circular and the bowl almost
hemispherical (Prate 2).! During the twelfth century the gold-
smiths of France reached the highest point of perfection of
craftsmanship : schools of goldsmiths existed at Metz, Rouen,
Troyes, Paris, Limoges and elsewhere, the productions of whose
ateliers rwalled those of the Byzantine artists.

The conclusions thus far arrived at may be briefly stated as
follows. During the first twelve centuries two forms of eucharistic
chalices were in use, one with handles, the other without ; and
while poor materials were frequently used, the tendency from very
early times was towards the use of the most precious and costly
substances, further sumptuous effect being gained by the liberal
use of precious stones. The form of the chalice gradually crystal-
lised into a shape most convenient for the purpose for which it was
intended, and the constituent parts of the shape have remained
constant, with some slight variations, through the centuries. In the

 Illustrated in L’abbé Cerf—Trésor de la cathédrale de Reims, Pl. ii.
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Western Church the two-handled form finally disappeared by the
end of the twelfth century. The Byzantine goldsmiths were
renowned for the magnificence of their productions, and their inter-
course with Western Europe, especially the Rhine valley, in the
time of Charlemagne and during the two following centuries roused
the emulation of the western craftsman, the latter however retaining
his individuality in design and workmanship.

THE thirteenth century produced a chalice of a form common
throughout Western Europe; the vessel was now very broad in
proportion to its height, the foot and bowl being of about equal
diameter ; the bowl was shallow, often with slightly out-turned lip,
the knop somewhat flattened, the foot circular and widely splayed.
In comparison with chalices of earlier centuries the thirteenth,
century vessel was simple and plain, the sumptuous enrichment of
precious stones was ho longer prevalent, the bowl was usually with-
out ornament.” English and French examples were less decorated
than those from the Rhineland provinces where Byzantine influence
still seemed to linger and affect the art of the goldsmith. The use
of precious metal was universal, but it was not long before the
injunctions for its use were considered to be complied with if the
bowl of the chalice alone were of silver. A French chalice of this
period, but with a bowl of later date, may be seen in the Museum
collection, Cat. No. 1 (Prate 8), the foot decorated with
medallions in relief representing scenes from the life of our Lord.
The chalices of Spain followed the orthodox form. A reproduction
of a thirteenth-century Dutch chalice,? the original of which is in
the Netherlands Museum, Amsterdam, shows a low vessel with a
wide shallow bowl with out-turned lip ; the knop is of openwork
with medallions of Christ and angels and symbols of the Evangelists
alternating with medallions of floral ornament ; the stem is also of
pierced work, and the circular foot repoussé in high relief with

! A notable exception, however, is to be found in the magnificent chalice at Borgd Church,
Fmland, the bowl of which, except for the lip-space, is entirely encased in rich and
elaborate ornament. It is the work of one of the celebrated school of goldsmiths at

Oignies, South Belgium, and dates from about 1230. See The Burlington Magazine,
December, 1921.

* In the Museum Collection, No. 1881-41.
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figures of the Evangelists. Closely resembling this chalice in form
and decoration is the example in the Historical Museum, Basle,
the gift of Count Gottfried von Eptinger to the cathedral of that
city in the latter part of the thirteenth century. The outline of
these chalices closely resembles that of the Dolgelly chalice to be
referred to later.

'That this form of chalice was prevalent also in northern Europe
may be proved from examples in the National Historical Museum,
Stockholm. The church of Soré, Denmark, possesses the silver
chalice found in 1827 in the grave of Absalon, Bishop of Lund,
who died in 1201. It is of the orthodox form, but almost entirely
without ornamentation ; the bowl is nearly hemispherical, the knop
flattened globular, the foot of wide trumpet-mouth shape with a
bevelled margin and turned-out edge." The thirteenth-century
chalice from Grundt Church, Iceland, in the Museum collection,
Cat. No. 2 (PLaTE 8), is of remarkable beauty ; the simplicity
of outline and the enrichment of the knop and stem are reminiscent
of an even earlier period. |

In England the number of chalices found in bishops’ tombs or
still in use renders it possible to trace the variations of form during
the thirteenth and early fourteenth century. Thirteenth-century
examples have been found at York Minster and at St. Davids,?
one from Berwick St. James, Wiltshire, is now preserved in the
British Museum® and a further example has recently been noticed
at Ashprington, Devon, where it is still in use.* All have broad
shallow bowls and circular bases, those of the first half of the
century have stem and knop circular, while in those of the succeed-
ing quarter of the century the stem or knop, or sometimes both,
are polygonal ; the chalices are entirely without ornament. The
later years of the century found the foot of the chalice decorated
with a series of lobes or leaves springing from the lower part of the

1 See Burlington Magazine, August, 1903,
2 See Archeologia, Vol. 1x, Part 2, pp. 489-491.
3 Nlustrated in C. . Jackson—I//ustrated History of English Plate, Fig. 360.

* See Archeological Fournal, Second Series, Vol. xx, No. 4, pp. 551-2.
Also Devonshire Association, Vol. xlv, pp. 95, 6.
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stem, the knop also 1s divided into lobes; the foot is further decorated
with a cross.! The cathedrals of York,? Salisbury, and Chichester
possess chalices of this type found in bishops’ tombs. Canterbury
possesses an unusually fine example taken from the tomb of Arch-
bishop Hubert Walter, who died in the year 1205.> A chalice of
this form 1s numbered among the treasures of the cathedral of
Troyes, France, and another is at St. Servais’ church, Maestricht,
Holland. The Convent of the Sceurs de Notre Dame at Namur
possesses a well-known example by the goldsmith-monk Hugo of
Oignies, with a shallow bowl, the foot decorated with leaves
radiating from below the stem, one of them bearing a crucifix ;
the decoration is in the fine delicate style characteristic of that
able craftsman.® The striking similarity in the form of the
French, English, and Netherlandish chalices referred to almost
suggests a common place of origin.

Undoubtedly the noblest example of the English form of this
period is the chalice found with its paten near Dolgelly in 1890 and
now the property of the Crown (PraTE 7) ; it has a shallow bowl and
a ribbed knop with an engraved band of foliage above and below ;
the foot is circular, and repoussé with trefoil lobes each engraved
with foliage; beneath is the inscription NicoL’vs ME FECIT DE
HERFORDIE. The form is closely allied to that of the chalice of
Archbishop Hubert Walter at Canterbury. A second chalice
evidently from the hand of this goldsmith exists at the church of

' The earliest existing English chalice decorated with a crucifix is at York Minster, found in
the supposed grave of Archbishop de Melton (1317-1340); the crucifix is engraved on

the spread of the foot. By the beginning of the fifteenth century this decoration had
become general.

2 For illustrations of the York Minster chalices, see T. M. Fallow and H. B. McCall—
Yorksnire CGhurch Plate, Vol. i, Pl i, ii, iii: also W. H. St. John Hope, M.A., and

T'. M. Fallow, M.A.—English Medieval Chalices and Patens, in Archzological Journal,
Vol. xli, p. 143.

® Hlustrated and described in Petusta Monumenta, Vol. vii, Part I; by W. H. St. John
Hope, M.A.

* Hlustrated in W. H. James Weale—4/bum des objets d’art religieux du moyen dge et de la
Renaissance exposés a Malines en 1864, No. 41.

> A reproduction is in the Museum collection, No. M. 1911-2. See Proceedings of the Society
of Antiguaries, 2nd Series, Vol. xiv, pp. 104-5.
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Dragesmark in the province of Bohuslin, Western Sweden.! It
bears a striking resemblance to the Dolgelly example ; the dimen-
sions are almost the same, the bowl is identical in form, the circular
foot has two tiers of lobes engraved with foliage, the knop however
s twisted. This chalice formerly belonged to a monastery founded
at Dragesmark by the N orwegian King Haakon Haakonssén, who
reigned from 1217 to 1263, Dragesmark being at that time in
the kingdom of Norway ; it may possibly have been the gift of
the founder.” Other chalices of this type, probably of English
workmanship, are to be found in the neighbourhood of Trondhjem
and also in Southern Norway.® The presence of English chalices
in Sweden and Norway is not surprising, when it is remembered
how great and constant was the influence of England upon these
countries in matters ecclesiastical throughout the medizval period
and especially during the twelfth and thirteenth centuries.

Mention should also be made of a chalice of somewhat similar
form found in 1840 in a grave on the site of Rusper Priory,
Sussex* ; it is of gilt copper, the foot and the outside of the bowl
enriched with champlevé enamel : on the bowl are half-figures of
our Lord and three angels, on the foot similar figures with books,
probably representing the four Evangelists. The remarkable
feature is the enamelling, which suggests that it dates from the end
of the twelfth or the beginning of the thirteenth century ; it
appears to be Limoges work. |

Few examples of the round-footed chalice are to bhe found
dating from the fourteenth century, and such as still exist are
mostly of German origin. One may be seen in the Museum

! See Carl R. af Ugglas— Uz calice inconnu de Nicolas d’Héreford, with illustration, in Revue
de I'art chrétien, Vol. Ixii, Pp. 135, 136.

# For note on this chalice, and an illuminating account of the intercourse between England and

Norway and Sweden in early times, see Andreas Lindblom—TIz peinture Gothique en
Guede et en Norvége.  Stockholm, 1916.

3See Harry Fett—E: Norsk-Engelsk Guldsmedverkstad, in Kristiania, Forenigen til Norske
Fortidsmindesmackers Bevaring, Aarsberetning for 1920, p. 216.

Also Thor Kielland—Middelaldersk Guldsmedkunst i Norge.

* See Albert Way—Notices of an enamelled chalice and of other ancient religues, found on the
site of Rusper Priory, in Sussex Archzological Collections, Vol. ix, pp. 303-311.
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collection, Cat. No. 4, bearing the name of Conrad of
Ratisbon ; its conical bowl and elongated form, however, mark the
transition from the broad, low chalice of the previous century.
Sweden possesses one at Tédby church.’

In Italy the opening years of the fourteenth century witnessed
a vigorous departure in the form and decoration of the chalice.
The vessel was taller than before, the bowl was smaller and of
semi-ovoid or conical form, set in a calyx ; the stem was polygonal,
generally hexagonal, and sometimes engraved or enriched with
champlevé enamel ; the knop was bossed and set with medallions
in niello, or more frequently in translucent enamel on silver,
representing our Lord and Saints, the intervening spaces being
filled with beaten foliage ; the foot was cusped and lobed, and
divided by ribs into compartments decorated with foliage amid
which were medallions in translucent enamel with scriptural
subjects or figures of saints; beneath was a flange of moulded or
pierced work. The use of precious stones for enrichment was
almost entirely abandoned ; the vessel was usually of gilt copper
with the exception of the silver medallions and of the bowl, which
was of silver-gilt.” This type of vessel seems to have originated at
Florence or Siena.® Pope Nicholas IV (1288-92) presented to the
monastery of Assisi a chalice of Sienese work enriched with trans-
lucent enamels. The church of Santa Reparata, Florence, possesses
an unusually rich example signed by the celebrated silversmith
Andrea Arditi, who worked in the carly years of the century. Gian
Galeazzo Visconti, Duke of Milan, presented a similar chalice to
the church of S. Giovanni Battista at Monza® at the end of the
fourteenth century. The Museum collection is rich in chalices of

* See 8. Curman and J. Roosval—8weriges K yrkor—Uppland, Bd. 1, H. 1, p. 112.

* San Carlo Borromeo at a later date (1573) considered that the chalice should be made of

gold or silver ; but he adds “ pes ex aurichalco inaurato permitti potest, si prae inopia ex
auro argentove fieri non potest.”

® For an mteresting note on the goldsmiths’ corporations at Siena, Perugia, Pisa and el